“Without Incident”
 The Arrest of David Pruss
by

Doug Huffman

David Edward Pruss was arrested without incident during a pre-dawn raid on August 30, 2005.  At least that is what the papers said.  I was there when it happened.  It was a significant incident in my life.  It was a day I will never forget and I doubt that anyone else who was there will ever forget it either.

I first became aware of David Pruss six weeks earlier, in mid July.  A fellow search and rescue dog handler, Bruce Hanson, told me that the Clearwater County Sheriff’s Office was looking for a suspect who had been vandalizing equipment and burglarizing homes in Weippe.  He had bragged to residents that he intended to kill various deputies.  This was soon to become Clearwater County’s biggest manhunt in many years.
Bruce is married to the Sheriff’s sister, and together Bruce and his wife train and handle Gracie, a bloodhound owned by Clearwater County Sheriff’s Search and Rescue (CCSSAR).  Because of his close ties to the sheriff, Bruce often knows more about what was going on in the county than I do.  I have my own search dog, Nick, who also serves as our family pet.  My kids helped train Nick for search and rescue work.  Nick works primarily as an air scent dog, or area search dog, rather than as a trailing dog like Gracie.  Nick is capable of trailing, but is unreliable on trails more than a few hours old.  Instead, Nick searches an area, checking the air currents for a hint of scent that might lead us to a lost subject.  Once he smells his subject in the air currents, he turns into the wind and finds his subject.  Using this method, we can search huge areas of wilderness with much better success than humans alone can.
A few days later on July 20, the sheriff’s office called and asked me to participate in the search for David Pruss.  About 8:30 AM, Detective Mandy Barlow put me on standby to go search for a vandalism suspect in the Weippe area.  At 9:12 AM, she called back and told me to come down to the sheriff’s office (SO) in Orofino.  I gathered up my gear and picked out the things I wanted to take.  I always carry my canteen with water, a radio, my handgun, a GPS receiver, and a dog leash.  For a typical search, I would normally bring a backpack with various survival and first aid gear.  I normally dressed in bright orange to increase my visibility to other searchers and the subject.  Nick has an orange vest with the words “SEARCH DOG” on the side.  In this case, the subject was criminal as opposed to simply a lost person, so I threw in my Kevlar vest, an Army battle dress uniform or BDU (a camouflage uniform) and a simple blue harness for the dog.  I left the survival items at home, because I knew a trip into the woods looking for an armed felon would not be an overnight stay.  Nick and I arrived at the SO to find Sheriff Alan Hengen and Deputy Chris Goetz organizing the day’s activities.  Chris was on the phone with the FBI, trying to get assistance from them.  
They filled me in on more details.  Equipment at the Ken Miller logging site had been vandalized every few weeks since late June.  It was mostly just cut wiring harnesses on equipment.  Outside the logging area, a phone box was shot up and two power transformers were damaged by rifle fire, all within about a 1/2 mile radius of the most recent vandalism.  A small hydro power plant had been damaged, and various homes had been burglarized.  Food, blankets, and various other supplies that would be needed by someone living in the woods had been stolen.  The suspect in the case, 34-year-old David Pruss, was a native of Utah and had made a few friends in Weippe.  He was 5’6” tall, weighing 155 lbs.  He was said to have anti-government sentiments.  Some of his acquaintances said that David had a "hootch" in the woods near the logging site.  David had bragged he was trying to lure a cop into the woods to kill him.  He had specifically said he wanted to kill Guy Cordle who was assigned to the case and also deputy Dan Goodrich who often worked in the Weippe area.  Pruss had connections with a militia group in Montana who could have taught him some basic military tactics.  People who knew him said he had spent many hours at the library studying weapons and tactics.  The sheriff had also learned that David Pruss was wanted in Montana for similar crimes.  There, he had lurked in the woods, vandalizing equipment and was so well camouflaged that deputies nearly stepped on him before he jumped up and ran.  They were never able to apprehend him.  He had moved to Weippe about a year before the vandalism started there.
 We discussed the Kevlar vest issue.  The vests normally worn by police officers are intended to stop bullets fired from handguns as powerful as .357 magnum, but they offer little protection from rifle fire.  The subject in this case was known to be armed with a MAK-90, a Chinese built semi-automatic rifle based on the AK-47 design.  It shoots a 7.62X39 cartridge and although this is a low powered rifle round, it could easily penetrate our vests.  He was also believed to carry a .357 magnum revolver, which was at the upper limit of what our vests would stop.  Alan loaned me his Kevlar vest.  He and Chris thought it would be better than my old one.  
Nick and I rode with Ann Kelleher, and followed Detective Mandy Barlow who was driving an unmarked vehicle up to Weippe.  We stopped at a small office at the Weippe city hall known as the SUB or Substation where we met with Mitch Jared, Doug Ward, and Guy Cordle.  
Guy Cordle is 35 years old and similar height and build to the suspect.  Anne had joked that David Pruss was actually Guy’s alter ego.  Guy had been in law enforcement for eight years and would later tell me he had never had as much difficulty understanding the motive of a suspect as he had with Pruss.  Cordle expressed a lot of emotion about wanting to catch the suspect.  He was working full time on the David Pruss case and it had deprived him of many hours with his family.  The threat against his life had made it very personal for Guy.
We needed a scent article for the dog.  Dan Goodrich had obtained the bedding from a van where David had slept for a time.
We drove out to the location of the most recent vandalism, a logging site just a couple miles north of Weippe.  We parked about 1/4 mile from the truck that had been vandalized the night before, and walked to the truck.  Mitch, Guy, Ann, and Mandy were all armed with AR-15s.  Everyone was locked and loaded.  It was nearly noon by this time and hot, probably 80 degrees or more.  I was concerned about the heat and low humidity.  Nick does not do well under those conditions.  The sensors in a dog’s nose need to be moist to work well.  Under these conditions, the dog’s nose could dry out quickly.
We arrived at the truck, where I showed Nick the scent article and told him to find.  We walked down the dusty logging road a bit, but I could tell Nick was not working well.  It was excessively hot and the trail was almost certainly too old for Nick to follow it for any distance.  Nick is primarily air scent rather than a trailing dog, but Bruce Hanson and Gracie were not available that day, so we were doing what we could.  
When trailing the suspect did not work, we went out in the woods 1/2 mile from the truck, maintaining that distance with my GPS receiver.  I wanted to work Nick on leash to keep him closer to us, but the brush and small trees were too thick.  Maneuvering with the dog on leash was nearly impossible.  I finally took him off leash.  He works better off leash anyway, but it was dangerous because if he had caught the scent of our subject in the breeze, he probably would have disappeared into the bushes faster than we could have followed him.  We made a semicircle around the logging site to the west and north.  Ann was directly on my heels at all times, with the purpose of protecting the dog and myself.  Mandy was out to the right, Guy was to the left and Mitch varied.  We found nothing and returned to the vehicles.  Mitch commented that when he could not see Ann or myself, he could see the bright blue dog harness showing up through the bushes.  I made mental note to look for a less conspicuous harness for Nick.  
The sheriff had given Guy and Mitch strict instructions that any trip into the woods would be very limited.  Everyone knew it was dangerous to pursue the suspect in the heavy brush.  Dry brittle twigs and branches snapped with every step we took, making a stealthy approach impossible.  I told Guy we could search 160 acres of timber in 3 - 4 hours early in the morning when the humidity was higher and the temperature lower.  Guy wanted to hit the woods at daybreak the next morning.  My time estimate was based on search and rescue procedures used for finding lost or injured people.  I realized later that while searching for David Pruss, we would be moving much slower than we would normally travel on a search for a lost person.
Doug Hart, an FBI agent, was at the sheriff’s office when we got back to Orofino.  The sheriff was trying to label the subject as a domestic terrorist so the FBI would assist in the case.  Eventually, the FBI agreed to help because David Pruss had vandalized a small hydropower plant that had been federally funded.  I had the feeling the FBI agent and the sheriff wanted us to stay out of the woods.  I knew it was dangerous to pursue Pruss into the timber, which was exactly what he wanted us to do.  Going into the woods gave our subject the home court advantage and we were playing by his rules when we did that.  Our plan to search the timber was put on hold.  Doug Hart and Guy made plans to interview all the people in Weippe who knew the subject once more.  I returned home and my involvement in the case was over for a while. 

Fifteen days later, on August 4, my phone rang at 4:42 AM.  David Pruss had struck again the night before.  Again, Gracie was not available, so it was up to Nick.  I was on the site and searching with the dog by 7 AM.  It was cooler, giving the dog more of a chance.  There had been two separate acts of vandalism the night before; each consisted of a MAK-90 round through the radiator of logging equipment.  We started at a log loader that had antifreeze dripping on the ground and the heavy bar tread of the subject’s combat boot beside it.  I showed Nick the scent article and the footprint on the ground and told him to find.  He immediately took us into the bushes, passing directly by the location where deputies believed the shot had been fired from.  We followed a game trail for a short distance parallel to the logging road on the south side of the logging site.  Nick seemed to lose the trail after 100 yards or so.  We tried to start him over again, but did not have any luck.  We proceeded to the second item that had been shot and Nick took us South into a small brushy ravine, then seemed to lose the trail.  Later, we learned nearby campers had heard shots the night before about 6 PM.  That meant the trail was probably 13 hours old.  Too many hours had passed for Nick to reliably follow it. 
Nick and I rode around with Steve Thornton for much of the morning looking for tracks on the roads.  The subject wore combat boots, which left a distinctive footprint.  He was also thought to use a bicycle for transportation.  Steve and I checked many local roads for footprints and bicycle tracks, but found nothing.
When I got home, my wife Julie was worried.  She knew I was hunting for a criminal, but I had not told Julie that David Pruss had bragged to people in Weippe that he was going to lure the cops into the woods for a shootout.  An article in the paper that day filled in the details that I had neglected to tell her.
One night in mid August, the phone rang at 10:30 PM.  It was Sheriff Alan Hengen.  He and Guy Cordle had been discussing the possibility of searching the heavy timber around the logging site and wanted to know if Nick and I were available to help.  I was in the middle of harvest with my brother on our farm, and it was not a good time for me to go on a search.  We discussed the situation some and I started to question the safety of what we were planning.  We knew it was dangerous to play along with the subject’s game of luring us into the woods, but numerous stakeouts at the logging site and various homes that had been burglarized were yielding nothing.  They had caught him on a surveillance camera at the logging site; he was wearing camouflage and a ski mask.  Later he stole a surveillance camera, mocking efforts to catch him.  The small department had invested thousands of man-hours in the case and they were making very little progress.
The concern I expressed to Alan was that the subject would do one of three things when and if we found him.  First, he might surrender: this would be a great thing, but it was not to be expected.  Second, he might shoot the dog or one of our team members.  Even though he had expressed his intent to kill law enforcement officers, we believed this scenario was unlikely until we had him cornered.  He could have picked off the cops who came to investigate the incidents at the logging site, he could have ambushed Guy Cordle at his home near Weippe, but he did not.  Third, he might jump and run as he had done in Montana.  This is what we really expected him to do.  I told Alan I felt reasonably safe while we were all in formation searching, but if we started chasing him through the brush, it could become a very unsafe situation.  It did not take much to raise Alan’s concerns about the safety of the people working for him.  Alan always placed the safety of his officers first.  The conversation ended with Alan saying he would call Guy and express his concerns about the safety of the team.
I thought about that conversation a lot for the next few days.  I really wanted to go into the woods and search for Pruss.  My children, my friends, and I had spent hundreds of hours training Nick to find people in the woods.  We had few opportunities to utilize that investment and passing this opportunity by was not something I wanted to do.  However, I had three children still living at home, and they needed a dad.  Placing myself in significant danger as a volunteer did not sound like a responsible thing to do.

I also had concerns about Guy Cordle.  He was the team leader when we went into the woods.  The good part was I knew he was a very capable man with a pistol.  I had originally met him at a pistol match some fifteen months earlier.  He handled a handgun with far more competence than most cops I have seen.  I suspected he could do equally well with the AR-15 he was packing around in the woods.  I knew that many people who can do well shooting at paper do not hold up well in actual gun battles.  In times of extreme danger, the mind tends to focus solely on the threat.  Simple things like switching the safety off on your weapon or clearing a jam can be nearly impossible to do when the conscious mind is focused on the terrifying hail of bullets coming out of the bushes at you.  I knew Guy Cordle had trained enough with weapons that his conscious mind would not need to think about operating the weapon.  For Guy Cordle to switch off the safety and return fire would be as automatic as it is for most people to hit the brakes on their car when another driver pulls out in front of them.  It would be something he could do automatically without having to stop and think about how to operate the mechanism.  

The thing that concerned me was I detected a bit of a cowboy in Guy Cordle.  I am not talking about the kind of cowboy that wears pointy-toed boots and a cowboy hat, but more the type of cowboy that is a bit reckless and lets emotion and passion overrule his intellect.  In my encounters with Guy in July and August, he had been very passionate about finding the subject.  At times, he seemed nearly seething with rage.  Cowboys of this type tend to be a lot of fun to be around, but they are prone to running headlong into disaster.  I had no training in law enforcement and was not in a good position to question the tactics we were using, but no matter how much I wanted to go into the woods and look for David Pruss, it did not seem like a wise thing to do.
As days passed, I puzzled over what possible motive David Pruss could have for vandalizing logging equipment, power transformers, the phone system and threatening to kill law enforcement officers.  He didn’t seem to be an eco-terrorist.  I was thinking about him one day, when it occurred to me that his behavior was in line with the actions supported in a book called, “The Anarchist’s Cookbook.”  Destruction of infrastructure, sabotaging business and even killing law enforcement officers are all discussed and encouraged by that book.  I wondered if reviewing the book would reveal any more things that we might expect from David Pruss. 
I had also read a book on guerrilla warfare a few years before.  The Weippe vandal had expressed his anti-government opinions and it seemed likely he would view himself as a guerrilla fighter.  Guerrillas learn to harass and evade government forces in wilderness situations using hit and run tactics.  When pursued into their own domain, they often depend on underground bunkers, escape tunnels and booby traps to frustrate superior forces.
A few days after talking with Alan Hengen, I called Guy in the evening and talked with him about the Anarchist Cookbook.  He had read the book many years before, but it didn’t quite feel like a match to him.  I also talked with him about our strategy if we did go into the woods after Pruss.  My biggest concern was that Pruss would run, we would chase after him and things would fall apart in the chaos that followed.  The cops would all be in camo, just as Pruss was.  We would be catching glimpses of people running through the bushes.  If a gun battle broke out, Pruss could shoot at anything that moved and be confident it was his enemy.  Our side would be hard pressed to identify individuals once our original formation had been abandoned.  Trying to lay low, positively identify our target, and return fire would be difficult.

Guy had been working on a strategy and he explained it to me.  He did not intend to chase Pruss through the brush.  Cordle intended to knock him down with a beanbag if he tried to run.  If he escaped into the bushes, we would not pursue him.  Guy told me that he had set a goal for himself a few years back.  He intended to complete his career as a law enforcement officer without ever having any injuries to himself or any team member working under him.  If the worst happened, Guy had made it perfectly clear to everyone in the SO that if he called for a medivac helicopter, he wanted it NOW, he did not want to have to explain.
We discussed the purpose of having Nick along.  The dog would prevent us from walking right past the subject if he was concealed in the grass or bushes.  We discussed the use of deadly force against Pruss.  Three things are required in Idaho before one human being can legally use deadly force against another.  1:  The criminal must show his intent to inflict serious bodily harm on another.  2:  The criminal must show his ability to carry out that threat.  3:  The threat must be immediate.  David Pruss had already done the first two on the list with his threats to kill police officers and shooting up various equipment.  Guy assured me that everyone on the team was fully prepared to use lethal force and everyone had been instructed that a threat against the dog was equivalent to a threat against any other member of the team.  As the conversation progressed, my concerns about Guy being a cowboy subsided.  He had thought things through very carefully and was a professional.  I hung up the phone and went to bed that night more eager than ever to pursue Pruss into the timber north of Weippe.
I lay there in bed and tried to sleep that night, but sleep was elusive.  I wondered why heading into the woods after an armed criminal seemed so appealing to me.  Possibly I was just too naïve to realize how serious the situation was.  Maybe my life was just boring enough that I needed this to give me a sense of adventure.  I thought of the things I had read about gunshot wounds.  Contrary to how things work in the movies, if someone is shot in the stomach, they will usually survive if they do not lose too much blood before getting to a hospital.  A chest wound is much more serious.  There are major arteries in the chest serving the heart and lungs; cutting one of these arteries would cause a person to bleed to death very rapidly.  Major damage to the heart itself is of course also fatal, but contrary to popular belief does not cause instant death.  People shot through the heart typically have at least 10 seconds before they lose consciousness.  I lay in bed and wondered what that would be like.

Things were going okay.  Nick was off leash out in front.  We were headed west down the little ravine where Nick had lost the trail on our last trip out.  I had heavily armed cops at my left and to my right.  Nick was not trailing; he was doing an area search.  That is what Nick does best, and I have confidence in him in that situation.  Suddenly, I felt a bone-crushing blow to my chest.  My breastbone was splintered by a dead center hit and I felt the puncture wound go all the way through.  I did not hear the shot and had no idea where it had come from.  I could not breathe; the wind had been knocked out of me.  I remember thinking, “This is not survivable.”  I awoke in a cold sweat.  It was just a nightmare.  I could not sleep again that night.
In the days ahead, I rummaged through my first aid kit that I had been leaving at home.  I took out a vet wrap bandage and put it with four tampons in a pocket on my BDU.  We had learned in first aid class that tampons could be excellent bandages for gunshot wounds.
The Clearwater County Sheriff’s office tried many tactics to catch David Pruss in the open where they could arrest him in a safe manner.  Officers lay patiently in the bushes for days at the logging site and outside homes that Pruss had burglarized multiple times.  The logger, Ken Miller, and his people armed themselves and did what they could to catch Pruss as well.  
Alan Hengen called for help from various agencies including surrounding counties and law enforcement from the Forest Service.  The Forest Service has officers who work in the wilderness along the Canadian border intercepting illegal immigration and smuggling.  They contributed electronic surveillance equipment including video, seismic and magnetic sensors.  These were arranged on paths likely for Pruss to pass along.  Volunteers from CCSSAR worked 24 hours a day monitoring signals from the remote sensors, hoping to be able to call in officers and intercept the subject.  
The Forest Service also brought in four handlers with dogs trained to intercept fugitives in the woods using both air scent and trailing methods.  During the short time these dog teams were available, Pruss was not seen and didn’t commit any acts of vandalism, so officers had no known starting position to work from.

Residents in Weippe occasionally saw David in town and called police.  Bruce Hanson and Gracie were called out and trailed him through streets and backyards in Weippe.  Worried residents seeing the bloodhound and heavily armed officers sometimes asked the officers to check storage areas in and around their residence to ensure no one was hiding on their property.  It was August and Gracie also suffered from the heat.  When she got too hot and could no longer work, she would lay down in the shade and the effort would be frustrated again.
The FBI offered a $5000 reward for information leading to his arrest.  Total damages attributed to Pruss topped $100,000.  Whether through skill or luck, David Pruss had evaded all attempts to capture him.  In small town USA, rumors run rampant when situations like this arise.  There was speculation that Pruss might have night vision equipment.  I heard from a neighbor that Pruss was using pepper spray to prevent dogs from trailing him.  People said it was like trying to find a ghost.  Pruss was becoming a legend as people’s imaginations filled in the unknowns about him.
Finally, Doug Hart of the FBI suggested they place a transmitting device inside something Pruss was likely to steal.  If he would take the transmitter back to his hootch in the woods, they would be able to find his hideout without having to search hundreds of acres of heavy timber.  With the cooperation of the Forest Service and Idaho Fish and Game, animal tracking devices and a receiver were procured for the job.
Sometime during the day on August 29, David Pruss burglarized a house he had robbed previously.  Like before, he stole a can of ground coffee.  Two things made this can of coffee special.  First, it was a plastic can, which would not block radio signals.  Second, inside underneath the coffee, taped to the bottom of the can was a transmitter.

The SO called me about 3:30 PM that day and asked if I could bring Nick up to the Weippe SUB.  I did not get any other explanation, I knew it had to do with David Pruss, but I knew nothing of the transmitter.  I got my things together and made the hour drive with Nick.  When I arrived at the SUB, I learned the Forest Service had contributed the homing device and as Sheriff Alan Hengen put it, Pruss had taken the bait.  Guy Cordle had climbed to the top of the water tower in Weippe and had picked up a faint signal from the transmitter.  When I arrived at the SUB, Guy was out in the woods on a four-wheeler, learning that the signal was coming from the canyon just south of the logging site.  It was a small canyon, possibly 400 yards across at the west end of the logging site, but tapered down to about 200 yards at the east end.  Visibility was limited to less than 50 feet in some areas due to heavy brush, while other areas had enough trees to shade out the brush and had good visibility under the canopy of trees.  From the canyon rim, all we could see was the tops of trees and bushes.  Guy came into the SUB after a bit, and showed us where he thought the signal was coming from on a map.  After discussing strategy a bit, we went out to the logging site.  We were preparing to go into the canyon to look for the coffee can, hoping it would be at Pruss’s campsite and he would be there.  We needed a heavy support team to go into the woods with us, but we also needed people around the perimeter to ensure Pruss didn’t escape from the canyon when we went in after him.  There were several more people on the way, but it would take time to get everyone prepared and in position.  Sheriff Alan Hengen realized we would be running out of daylight by the time we were ready to go in.  He knew if a gun battle broke out at twilight, we would be trying to evacuate people in the dark when the medivac helicopter would not be available.  We were rushing things to go in that evening.  Patience is an essential quality for a hunter.  Alan recognized this and suggested we make better preparations and wait until morning.
Guy, Zach Ward, and myself went out with the radio direction finder and took four different data points around the canyon, getting a direction to the transmitter signal and recording GPS coordinates at each point.  We took the last data point just after 7 PM.  The Fish and Game officers had told us we would have problems with reflections in the canyon, and recommended we not take the receiver with us in the morning.  Alan told us to go home, get some sleep, and meet back at the SUB at 4:30 AM the next morning. 
I went home and plotted the GPS points and the apparent direction of the signal on graph paper.  One of the data points appeared to be very wrong and this bothered me.  I programmed the most likely location for the signal source into my GPS and set it to navigate to that position.  My family helped me cover my retractable dog leash with camouflage tape, we found Nick's black harness, which wouldn’t show up in the bushes like his bright blue one, and I dug out my camo gloves.  I was better prepared than I had ever been for this and with the information gathered from the radio-tracking device, we had more going for us than ever before.  I made it to bed shortly after 10 PM and was asleep by 10:30 - 10:45.  

I awoke with a start at 12:53 AM, August 30.  My heart was pounding.  Julie had flushed the toilet in the bathroom, a sound I normally sleep through without noticing.  I lay awake, nervous about what might happen in a few hours.  I watched the clock and thought about how little time there was before I would be in the woods, possibly living out my nightmare of a few weeks before.  I was still awake at 2:30 so I got up and ate breakfast.  I put on my Kevlar vest, my BDU and tucked my pistol in a holster behind my back.  I was carrying it concealed and wondered if the subject would concentrate his fire on the more heavily armed members of our team or pick off the dog handler to make it more difficult for the team to find him again.  I gathered my things and while our family slept, Nick and I left.  I arrived in Weippe at about 4:15 AM.  We had 17 cops in the SUB.  Sheriff Hengen wanted heavy firepower on our side so he had every available deputy plus two Fish and Game officers there.  We went in the meeting room in the back where I showed Alan and Guy my map with the GPS coordinates and vectors that did not line up perfectly.  It was the best we had and we knew it would be close enough.  
Alan briefed the team.  Guy Cordle, Mitch Jared, Zach Ward, Mark Rhodes, Steve Thornton, and myself with the dog made up Team 1.  We were to go into the canyon on the west end and sweep to the east, hopefully working into the wind to take best advantage of the dog's nose.  There were about 11 other people in four sniper teams positioned on the south, east and north sides.  Their job was to contain the subject if we drove him out of the canyon.  They were stretched thin, but so was Team 1.  Bruce Hanson, Gracie, and Alan Hengen would take a position on the north side.  Presumably, Gracie would be used to trail the subject in the event the subject escaped from the canyon.  Alan emphasized the legalities of using deadly force against the subject.  He also stressed that no matter how bad we wanted Pruss, the safety of the team came first.  The medivac helicopter and paramedics were put on standby, as was the Weippe ambulance service.
The sniper teams got into position while it was still dark, and Team 1 walked in to Guido MacGuffie's sniper position 365 yards from where my GPS said the transmitter was located.  We then waited for better light.  I was carrying Nick's bell in the leg pocket on my BDU, it was jingling with every step I took, and I wanted it quiet.  I was trying to stuff leaves around the clapper to dampen it.  Mark Rhodes noticed what I was trying to do and offered me some toilet paper, which did the job.  
We stood around and joked in the morning twilight.  We all had small connections of some sort.  Steve Thornton’s sister-in-law sang at my wedding 21 years earlier.  Steve himself had been my search partner on a search for a missing girl 15 months earlier.  Mark’s wife was a schoolteacher and had taught biology to my two daughters.  It was Zach’s last day with the department.  He had accepted a job with the Orofino Police Department.  Zach had been the school resource officer and had once been a panel judge on the local “We the People” competition where he had complimented my daughter Amy on her vocabulary.  
Guido had served his country in Vietnam where he had seen the dark side of human nature.  Standing there in the dark with nervous heavily armed men reminded Guido of Vietnam although our odds were better than Guido had faced in Vietnam.  Guido had faced a very skilled and determined enemy in a foreign land.  We were facing an enemy of unknown competence in our own community.  We had superior numbers and superior firepower, but we were also headed into the enemy’s lair, his home turf.  That day we were doing what David Pruss claimed he wanted us to do, go into the woods after him.

I did not notice what time it was when we started down into the canyon, but it was full daylight, probably close to 6 AM, when Guy announced on the radio, "Team 1 is moving in.”  We moved north through the brush down into the bottom of the canyon.  I removed Nick’s choke chain so the subject wouldn’t be able to grab it.  I attached the leash to his black harness.  My hands were full with the dog leash in one hand and my GPS in the other.  Most of the deputies on Team 1 had an AR-15 that morning, but Guy had a 12 gauge shotgun with a pistol grip, which had more versatility than the AR-15, but less range.  Mitch Jared was assigned to stay close to me as my protection.  Alan Hengen had instructed Guy to keep two people with me, but I noticed Guy only assigned one person to the job.  We had a lot of area to cover with only six people.  If he assigned two people to stay close to me that would be three people grouped together, fully half of his team.  We did not have that many people to spare and there are some tactical disadvantages to having people together in tight groups.  Recalling my previous phone conversation with Guy, I chose to trust his judgment.  
Guy worked at the extreme left at the creek bottom, while Steve Thornton was to the extreme right on the hillside south of us.  Nick, Mitch, and I were in the middle hoping Nick would alert us if we approached the subject hiding in the bushes.  Sometimes the brush was thick and we would lose sight of each other briefly.  Guy would call us on the radio and order the team to stop moving forward and get lined up in a straight line, perpendicular to our direction of travel again.  I was keeping Nick on leash this time.  That was safer for Nick and possibly for the team, but it made it very difficult to work in heavy brush.  I was often on my hands and knees following his exact path through the brush trying to keep the leash from being wrapped around bushes or trees. 
A few years before, I had attended the winter seminar of the National Police Bloodhound Association in South Carolina.  One of the things they taught us was to hold the dog leash in our weak hand.  “Your gun hand is NOT your leash hand.”  Most of the people at the seminar were law enforcement personnel.  It is important for police to learn to keep their strong hand free for defending themselves.  They also taught us to drop the dog leash if we got in trouble.  People can get so accustomed to hanging tight to a dog leash they won’t drop it to defend themselves in an emergency.  Although I didn’t normally search for criminals, I tried to establish the habit of holding the leash in my left hand.  On this morning, I had the leash in my left hand and my GPS receiver in my right hand.  At one point I noticed I had my hand through the wrist strap on the GPS making it easier to carry, but much more difficult to drop in an emergency.  I fumbled with the camo gloves until I had my hand out of the wrist strap.
We moved along slowly, looking all around us.  The dry brush and twigs snapped and cracked with every footstep.  Alan Hengen told us later, he could hear us crashing through the brush from 100 yards away where he was positioned on the north side of the canyon.  As the distance between us and the likely site of the camp decreased, we moved slower and slower.  When my GPS indicated we were just 25 yards away we were faced with a small flat area, just southeast of us.  I stayed put while the other team members checked out the flat.  They found nothing.  I eventually joined them with Nick.  The dog was not interested in that area and wanted to continue moving upwind to the east.  He was working the ground mostly, but he definitely wanted to go east, so we moved on slowly.

Nick was leading Mitch and I along a slight trail at 7:14 AM, 81 yards from where we had expected to find the coffee can when I noticed a small pile of rocks in a bank that did not look quite right.  I pointed it out to Mitch and suggested it could be a cache site.  Mitch also noticed there were bushes cut off with a hatchet or machete.  Nick wanted to follow the trail northeast from that location.  I went about 50 feet down the trail and stopped.  Mitch and the others checked out the area directly south of me, leaving me alone for several minutes.  This time, I started to get nervous.  From my immediate position, Nick still wanted to go northeast and for the first time was holding his nose up, showing interest in air scent, possibly indicating we were getting close to the subject.  Scent tends to move down hill in the evening and early morning, often flowing down a canyon just like water.  Nick had led us up the dry stream bed most of the way and he was getting more intent now.  I noticed a small pile of logs just a few yards northwest of my location that might be a shelter.  I tried to study it out of the corner of my eye.  I did not want the subject to realize he had been discovered by me while the rest of the team was out of sight.  Eventually Mitch and the others returned, having found nothing other than a few more bushes and small trees that had been cut off.  I detoured Nick for a minute to check out the pile of logs, but he showed no interest in it and it appeared to be a natural occurrence. 

We moved on upstream, and Nick was pulling harder, his tail curled up over his back, indicating he was getting more excited.  Guy noticed the dog’s body language also and commented on it.  He had been a canine officer a few years before and understood dogs well.  Steve reported on the radio that he was finding more bushes and small trees cut off on a logging road on the hillside above us.  156 yards from the point I had programmed into my GPS, at 7:23, Guy discovered a roll of film under the washed out roots of a tree in the creek bed.  Guy suspected the unrolled film was from the surveillance camera that had been stolen.  We looked around the area, but did not find the camera.

We continued on, very slowly now.  Things were more open.  We had 50 - 100 yards of visibility.  I found myself walking in a half-crouched position.  We talked in whispers when we talked at all.  I was stepping carefully, trying to be quiet, looking in all directions while also being alert for any indications from the dog that might indicate where the subject was.  I am not certain who noticed it first, but there was a white plastic bag hanging from a tree on the south side partway up the side of the canyon.  I was talking to Mitch about it when Steve went over to investigate.  Steve got on the radio and called Mitch up to look at it.  Guy came over from my left and I was telling him, "That is just too obvious.  It's as if he wants us to walk over and look at that."  I was thinking of the suspect's claims that he had booby traps in the woods.  Mitch and Steve studied the situation.  It was just a white plastic bag hanging from a horizontal pole suspended between two trees.  The bag was hanging by a string and was torn open at the bottom.  Beneath it on the ground was a Cenex-Land of Lakes butter box, the kind in which you buy butter cubes.  Possibly our subject had hung the butter from a string to try to keep rodents from eating it. 

Mitch and Steve were standing by the bag on an old logging road cut into the hillside.  It was overgrown with brush and small trees, four to eight feet high.  As they studied the plastic bag, they realized there was a pile of fir boughs just 20 feet to the east of them on the logging road that did not look right.  When they took a second look, they immediately realized it was a shelter.  It was a 6 x 6 x 4 foot high structure covered with fir boughs.  An opening on the south side, facing the hill, served as a door.  It was 204 yards almost exactly due east of the point indicated by the GPS and radio direction finder.  Reflections in the canyon had apparently contributed to the 200-yard error.  As the startled searchers came to realize how close they were to the subject's hideout, they saw the fir boughs stir slightly and heard a zipper being zipped inside the shelter. 

Down near the creek bottom, we heard Mitch whispering on the radio, "There's a shelter here.”  We all scrambled up the hillside towards the shelter as we heard Mitch shouting at the subject to come out.  I took a position behind a tree about 30 yards downhill from the others.  Staying out of the way was my main job now.  
It is better for several people to approach a dangerous subject from an angle of about 90 degrees, so officers do not accidentally shoot each other if a gun battle erupts.  In this case, they did not want to approach from the south side because the dark doorway was on that side.  I was on the north side, looking up the steep hill and could not see what was happening on the relatively level logging road.  That left only the east and west sides.  Having officers approach from opposite sides presented a danger of friendly fire.  If things went bad, the officers on each side would be shooting towards the officers on the other side.  The officers gathered around the makeshift shelter.  Guy, Zach, and Mark took positions on the east side, while Steve and Mitch were on the west side.  Guy cautioned his fellow teammates to be careful of cross fire. 

Our subject had been in the woods for ten weeks trying to lure law enforcement into an armed confrontation.  He was known to spend many hours on the internet studying tactics for just such a confrontation, and he had connections to various militia groups who were knowledgeable in preparing a defense against armed men.  Ten weeks was ample time to dig escape tunnels and underground bunkers.  He had expressed his intent to kill Guy Cordle and other cops.  On this day, Guy Cordle and other officers had come into the woods and were standing at David's doorstep.  If David Pruss was a competent guerrilla fighter, he would have the advantage of preparedness and would have his enemy where he wanted them most.  Thirty yards down the hill behind a tree, I drew my pistol, and keeping it pointed at the ground, I looked around the area trying to guess what surprises Pruss would have in store for us.

Guy ordered the subject to come out and show his hands.  There was only silence in the shelter.  Guy threatened to shred the shelter with double ought buck from his 12 gauge shotgun, with no response.  The officers were only a few feet from the shelter on each side; the subject could have had gun ports concealed in the fir boughs through which he could have shot at the intruders, but that didn't happen.

When it became obvious that Pruss wasn’t coming out, Guy threatened to use tear gas (CS).  There still was no sound from within the shelter, so Guy announced to the group that he was deploying tear gas.  He loaded five rounds of CS penetrators into his 12 gauge.  These rounds fire CS pellets that have the ability to penetrate completely through a trailer house and exit the other side.  Guy judged the makeshift shelter to have very little substance in its walls and realized the rounds could be lethal if he hit the subject directly.  He also had the problem of trying to keep the pellets inside the shelter rather than going through to the other side where Mitch and Steve were positioned.  He fired the first round at a rock beside the east wall of the shelter.  
The snipers surrounding the canyon heard the report from the tear gas round being fired.  They had heard our discussion on the radio about the shelter, and they heard the shouts and threats directed at Pruss so they knew the subject was cornered.  When Guy fired the first round of tear gas, everyone outside of Team 1 assumed the gun battle had begun.  Alan Hengen took a defensive position behind a brush pile at the logging site.  Others snapped to alert as adrenaline surged into their veins.  Guy immediately realized his mistake and announced over the radio, "Team 1 is deploying tear gas, this is tear gas only!"  He said later, when he heard the crack from that first round, he immediately thought of the snipers surrounding our position.  They were out of sight, but could hear what was happening in the woods.
Guy fired three more rounds of tear gas at the rock beside the shelter.  The pellets splattered on the rock, sending particles through the wall of the shelter.  Much of the gas was released outside the shelter where it formed a white cloud around the fir boughs covering the shelter.  Guy dumped one remaining round of CS on the ground and reloaded with double ought.  Mitch and Steve on the west side were soon having exposure problems as the CS drifted with the wind into their faces.

There was still no response from the subject.  Mitch looked at Steve and said, "We did hear a zipper in there, didn't we?"  Steve had heard it too, so there had to be someone in the shelter.  From my position down the hill, I suspected David was in his shelter with a gas mask on.  Military surplus gas masks are available; every wannabe commando should have one.  The other possibility was he could come crawling out from under a nearby bush where his escape tunnel exited.
Guy finally peeked around the southeast corner of the structure and could see the subject’s right hand and right knee through the door.  David was on his hands and knees at the doorway.  Guy ordered the subject out: "SHOW ME YOUR HANDS AND COME OUT!”  David slowly brought his left hand into view and started out of the doorway still on hands and knees.  Then the right hand came forward.  When he lifted his right hand, Guy could see the MAK-90 the subject had used to fire into logging equipment, transformers, and phone boxes on the floor under his hand.  As he moved his right hand forward, the rifle stayed on the floor just inside the door.  David was facing down towards the ground.  He was halfway out of the doorway, still on his hands and knees.  Then David did something unexpected that nearly cost him his life.  He started to back into his shelter again.  As he backed up, his right hand moved back towards the rifle on the floor.  Guy had a 12-gauge shotgun pointed at the subject, and four others had AR-15s pointed at him.  Guy was the only one who could see the rifle on the floor, and he was the only one who realized how serious the movement of that right hand back into the shelter was.  He had trained for this moment, he had thought about it for weeks in regards to this particular criminal and he had made up his mind long before that he would kill David Pruss without hesitation if necessary to prevent Pruss from injuring others.  Pruss had expressed his intent to kill Cordle and other police officers.  The firearm used to vandalize logging equipment, power transformers and phone boxes had shown that Pruss had the ability to carry out his threat.  The only thing needed beyond that was for the threat to be immediate.  As David's right hand moved back towards the rifle on the floor in the doorway, the long-standing threat that had been made weeks before was becoming immediate.  At that moment in time, for the first time ever, Guy Cordle had the legal right to kill David Edward Pruss.  

In the debriefing later that day, Guy would say, "I probably should have shot him.”  Not only did he have a legal right to kill the subject, he had a responsibility to his fellow teammates to ensure everyone’s safety.  Killing the subject would have been the safest thing to do for his team.  It would have been a legal shooting.  It would have immediately ended the danger to Guy and his teammates to send a round of double ought buck shot through the back of the subject’s head.  Society would almost certainly have been better off without Pruss.  It would have saved the taxpayers the cost of a trial, the cost of food, medical expenses, shelter, and guards needed to keep a defective human being alive in prison.  Guy only had a fraction of a second to decide what to do.  I have contemplated his decision for hours since then, and I suspect Guy has contemplated his decision for days.  If Guy had been a programmed robot, precisely following his training, I believe he would have shot the subject the instant his hand touched the rifle.  Guy was not a machine; he responded as a human being instead.  In this extreme circumstance that few people will ever face, Guy's human side won out.  He took a chance and deviated from his training.  If this worked he would save the life of a criminal, and if it didn't he would be endangering himself and his team. 

Guy recognized his superior position standing to the side and behind Pruss who was on his hands and knees.  David had not looked up and was not watching what Guy was doing.  Guy could act and David would not be able to anticipate his actions.  Guy knew his own physical abilities well.  He was not a massive and burly man, yet he had wrestled drunk and disorderly red necks to the ground on many occasions.  Like most cops, knowing how and when to strike an opponent in a physical confrontation was second nature to him.  Knowing when not to take the physical approach was even more important.  In the split second Guy had to make his decision, he chose to kick the subject just behind the left arm where it connects to the shoulder.  With all of Guy's weight and strength behind his foot, the unexpected blow sent Pruss face down on the ground with his hand out of reach of the rifle in the shelter.  Guy held Pruss to the ground with his foot against his shoulder.  Pruss turned his head to the left and struggled to open his eyes against the tear gas.  As he looked towards the person who was holding him down, all he could see was the barrel of Guy’s shotgun in his face.  As the others stepped in closer for support, Guy swung his shotgun to his left side and leaving it hanging from the sling, he put handcuffs on the suspect.

I heard Guy on the radio, "Clearwater sheriff, 2017, we have one in custody."  As dispatch acknowledged, we could hear the cheers of others at the office in the background.  As they drug David to his feet, his eyes were clamped shut from the tear gas.  He could not have put up much of a fight if he had attempted a gun battle in his current physical state.  He had no gas mask, no escape tunnel, no booby traps, no night vision equipment and he was temporarily blinded and choked by tear gas.  The real man in handcuffs didn’t stand up to the legend we had been hearing about.
Nick and I made our way up the slope to the logging road where the deputies held David Pruss.  David looked droopy eyed and scared.  He was wearing camo pants and a blue flannel shirt.  He was shaking violently, smelled bad, was dirty, and was rambling about two masked men who were controlling his mind.  He talked of time lapses and how he studied his watch and hours would disappear.  He may have been building his case for an insanity plea.
Guy explained to David what was going to happen next, "Now we are going to walk out of here and you are going to do exactly as I tell you.  If you try to run, I am going to shoot you between the shoulder blades with double ought, if you make any aggressive act towards any of my team, I am going to kill you, if you do anything other than what we tell you, I am going to kill you."  David suggested the easiest way out was to follow the logging road on east.  We came to a four-wheeler trail soon and waited for an ATV to arrive.  The subject was still shivering violently as if he was cold, but it was fear that made him shake so.  He was pleading with the deputies to protect him from the ones who were controlling his thoughts.  Guy's human side started to show through again as he softened his tone with David and assured him he was safe now.  David did not seem to know who Guy was, so Guy took off his hat and said, "Do you recognize me now?”  David had sat in Guy's office and been interrogated by Guy a year before.  David looked confused and barely seemed to know the person he had bragged he was going to kill a few weeks earlier. 

Guido brought a special ATV used by search and rescue for transporting people.  It had an extra seat on the back.  David climbed on the back seat as instructed.  Guy was at his side as they transported Pruss to a vehicle for transport to Orofino.  David was complaining of his arm hurting so they took him to the hospital where they put his arm in a sling. 

David’s shelter was dismantled and items within were tagged and bagged as evidence.  Many of the things in the shelter were recognized as items that had been stolen in various burglaries, including the coffee can with the transmitter in it.  The MAK-90 and a stainless .357 revolver were the only weapons in the shelter.  There was very little food present.  Three copies of the bible were found and one book about, "The true story of a CIA mind control slave.”  

Back at the Weippe SUB, we held a debriefing.  Everyone in the room had a few comments about events that morning.  It was agreed that waiting until morning had been the right thing to do.  Guy talked about how close he had come to shooting the subject.  If only minor things had been different, the outcome could have been much worse.  Pruss could have been in a different state of mind when we found him.  Deputies suspected he had been asleep when his shelter was found.  If he had been outside, he could have heard or seen us coming.  If Guy's attempt to stop him from reaching his rifle had failed, team members could have been injured or even killed.  

And so the news reported that David Edward Pruss had been arrested without incident.  Those of us who were there know just how different things could have been.
(All photos courtesy of Clearwater County Sheriff’s office)
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The picture of David Pruss used on wanted posters and circulated to the press.
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Photo taken of Pruss by a surveillance camera in July.  The 

ski mask and clothing were found with Pruss in his shelter.

(All photos courtesy of Clearwater County Sheriff’s office)
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The shelter after fir boughs and tarps were removed.  The small 

tent inside may have provided some protection from the tear gas.
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Pruss looked happy 6 ½ hours after his arrest.  His arm was in a sling.
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